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erican Reliable Insurance Company et al D

UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEVADA

ROBERT MORRIS,
Plaintiff, Case No.: 2:14-cv-01998 GMN-CWH
VS.
ORDER
GREEN TREE SERVICING, LLC, a
DelawareLimited Liability Company;
AMERICAN RELIABLE INSURANCE
COMPANY d/b/aASSURANT,

Defendants.

N N N N N N N N N N N N

Pending kefore the Court is the Motion to Dismiss(ECF No. 10 filed by Defendant
American Reliable Insurance Company (“ARIC”). Plaintiff Robert Morris (“Plaintiff”) filed a
Resporse (ECF No. 15, and ARIC filed aReply (ECF No. 21). Moreover, Defendant Green
Tree Servicing, LLC (“Green Tree”) filed a Joinder to ARIC’s Motion to Dismiss (ECF No. 16)
to which Plaintiff filed a Resporse (ECF No. 20 and Green Treefiled a Reply (ECF No. 22.1
l. BACKGROUND

This case anses out of the purchase of forceplaced insurance (“FPI”) by Defendant
Green Treefrom Defendant ARIC. Plaintiff purchased red property located at 2495April
Breeze Lane, Henderson, Nevada 89002 (the “Property”), which was financed through
Countrywide Mortgage, Inc. (Am. Compl. 14-5). Subsequently, Bank of Americabecane
the sewvicer of the mortgage until November 1, 2011 when Green Treebecane the servicer of

the mortgage. (I1d. 115-6).

! Although Green Tree styles its motion as a joinder to ARIC’s Motion to Dismiss, Green Tree presents
its own dsmissl arguments. (SeeJoinder, ECF No. 16). Thus, the Court will treat Green Tree’s
Joinder as a separae motion to dsmisspursuant to FRCP 12(b)(6).
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Pursuant to the Deead of Trust, the servicer of the mortgage was resporsible for the
payment of insurance premiumsthrougha mortgage escrow acwurt.? (Deed of Trustat 5-6,
ECFNo. 161). On November 17, 2011 Green Treesent aletterto Plaintiff indicaing that
there was no homeowner’s insurance on the Property and asked Plaintiff to provide proof of
insurance or it would puchase FPI. (Am. Compl. 1 7; Ex. B-1 to ARIC’s Mot. Dismiss, ECF
No. 103). Plaintiff alegesthat he made his monthly paymentsin full, including the monthly
escrow deposit used for insurance premiums, every month from April 2005throughMarah
2012. (Am. Compl. q 13). However, Plaintiff contacted Traveler’s Insurance Co. (the insurance
provider that Plaintiff seleded when he purchased the Propetrty), and leained that the pdicy had
been cancdled in February 2011for nonpayment. (I1d. 1 14). Plaintiff allegesthat he was
never contaded ar ndtified that the premiumswerena being paid, and urtil November 2011,
Plaintiff had never been contaded o natified that his pdicy had lapsed. (Id. § 15-16).

Green Treesent aseandletterto Plaintiff onDecamber 17, 2011 requesting proof of
insurance coverage. (Id. 1 20, Ex. B-2 to ARIC’s Mot. Dismiss, ECF No. 10-4). Plaintiff
alleges that proof of coverage was provided “the first week of January 2012.” (Am. Compl.
20). Next, Green Treesent athird letter to Plaintiff in January 2012, naifying Plaintiff that he
owed $660for FP that was purchased by Green Treefrom ARIC and covereal the months of
November and December 2011.(1d. 1 21). Plaintiff wasinformed by ARIC that Green Tree
purchased FP onJanuary 5, 2012 andthat ARIC had retroadively dated the pdicy to include
coveragge for the precaling two months. (Id.  37). Plaintiff allegesthat he continued to make

2 The Court takesjudicial natice of Exhibit A (ECFNo. 10-1) to ARIC’s Motionto Dismiss
and Exhibits A-C, E-F (ECF Nos. 161-16-3, 165-16-6) to Green Tree’s Motion to Dismiss.
SeeMackv. S.Bay Bee Distrib., 798F.2d 1279, 12829th Cir. 1986. Ead of these
documents is publicly recorded in the Clark County Recorder’s office. Moreover, the Court
takesjudicia natice of Exhibits B-1-B-3 (ECF Nos. 10-3-10-5) to ARIC’s Motion to Dismiss.

These documents are alleged in Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint, and no party questions their
authenticity. SeeBranch v. Tunrell, 14F.3d 449, 4549th Cir. 1994.
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his monthly mortgage payment on time “until he receved a cdl from Defendant Green Tree
who indicated Plaintiff’s mortgage was delinquent (because the force-placed insurance had na
been peid for) and that his monthly payments would na postto his acourt urtil he paid the
$660representing the all eged forceplaced insurance.” (1d. 7 24).

In August 2012,Plaintiff was sent aNotice of Default and Eledionto Sell, which
Plaintiff alleges did not include any advisement as to Plaintiff’s rights to mediation and did not
comply with the Nevada Fored osure Mediation Program. (Id. 1 29, seeEx. E to Green Tree’s
Mot. Dismiss ECF No. 165). Asaresult, onSeptember 12, 2012 Plaintiff sent Green Treea
chedk in the amount of $5640.01aongwith an acmord and satisfaction, which Plaintiff alleges
“cleaty stated that if Defendant Green Treecashed o otherwise deposited the chedk that it
would be voluntarly enteringinto the Accord and Satisfaction and would agreeto seven (7)
enumerded itemsin connedionwith the Accord and Satisfaction.” (1d. 138-39).

In October 2012,Plaintiff contaded Green Treeand was informed that the ched for
$5640.01 hd been applied to trial payments under aloan modificaion grogram. (1d. 1 40).
Shortly thereater, Plaintiff recaeved dacuments from Green Treepurporting to modify the loan
onthe Property. (1d. 9 41). Further, on March 9, 2013, Plaintiff received a Notice of Trustee’s
sale that indicated that the Property would be sold at pulic auction onApril 2, 2013(1d. 1 43).

Plaintiff originally fil ed the instant adion in state court onMard 27, 2013(SeePet. for
Removal, ECF No. 1). Plaintiff subsequently filed hs Amended Complaint, adding ARIC as
an additional defendant. (Seeid.). ARIC removed the adionto this Court on December 02,
2014.(Seeid.). Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint as<erts the foll owing causes of adion: (1)
bread of contrad; (2) bread o the implied covenant of goodfaith and fair deding; (3)
intentional misrepresentation; (4) bread of fiduciary duty; (5) acoord and satisfaction; (6)
acourting d funds; (7) conversion; (8) civil conspiracy; (9) RICO; (10) raketeeing; (11)
rackketeerng conspiracy; (12) violation d the Truthin Lending Act, 15U.S.C. § 1601et seq.;
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(13) violation d the Red Estate Settlement Procedures Act, 12U.S.C. 8§ 2601et seq.; (14)
violation d the Nevada Deceptive Trade Pradice Act, NRS598.0903¢t seq.; (15) violation d
the Nevada Unfair Lending Pradices Act, NRS598).010et seq.; (16) wrongful foredosure;
(17) violation d the Fair Debt Colledion Pradices Act, 15U.S.C. § 1692et seq.; (18) violation
of the Fair Credit Reporting Act, 15U.S.C. § 1681et seq.; (19) violation d NRS 107, (20)
violation d NRS 645; (21) statutory damages. (Am. Compl. 144-246).

1. LEGAL STANDARD

Dismissl is appropriate uncer Rule 12(b)(6) wherea pleader fails to state aclaim upon
which relief can be granted. Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6); Bdl Atl. Corp.v. Twombly, 550U.S. 544,
555(2007). A pleading must give fair natice of alegally cognizable claim and the grounds on
which it rests and althougha court musttake all factual all egations as true, legal conclusions
couched as afactual all egation areinsufficient. Twombly, 550U.S. at 555. Accordingly, Rule
12(b)(6) requires “more than labels and conclusions, and aformulaic redtation d the elements
of a cause of action will not do.” Id.

“To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter,
accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.””” Ashcroft v. Igbd, 556
U.S. 662, 6782009 (quaing Twombly, 550U.S. at 555. “A claim has facial plausibility
when the plaintiff pleads factual content that all ows the court to draw the reasonabl e inference
that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.” Id. This standard “asks for more than a
sheer possibility that a defendant has acted unlawfully.” Id.

“Generally, a district court may not consider any material beyond the pleadings in ruling
on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion.” Hal Roach Sudios, Inc. v. Richard Feiner & Co., 896F.2d 1542,
1555 n.19 (9th Cir. 1990). “However, material which is properly submitted as part of the
complaint may be considered.” Id. Similarly, “documents whose contents are alleged in a

complaint and whose authenticity no party questions, but which arenat physicaly attached to
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the pleading, may be considered in ruling on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss” without
converting the motion to dsmissinto a motion for summary judgment. Branch v. Tunrell, 14
F.3d 449, 4549th Cir. 1994. On amotionto dsmiss a court may also take judicia natice of
“matters of public record.” Mackv. S.Bay Beg Distrib., 798F.2d 1279, 12829th Cir. 1986§.
Otherwise, if a court considers materias ouside of the pleadings, the motionto dsmissis
converted into a motion for summary judgment. Fed. R. Civ. P. 12d).

If the court grants amotionto dismissfor fail ure to state a claim, leave to amend shoud
be granted uressit is clearthat the deficiencies of the complaint canna be cured by
amendment. DeSdo v. Yellow Freight Sys., Inc., 957F.2d 655, 65&9th Cir. 1999. Pursuant
to Rule 15(a), the court should “freely” give leave to amend “when justice so requires,” and in
the absence of a reason such as “undue delay, bad faith or dilatory motive onthe part of the
movant, repeaed fail ure to cure deficiencies by amendments previously allowed, undwe
prejudiceto the oppcsing party by virtue of allowance of the amendment, futility of the
amendment, etc.” Fomanv. Davis, 371U.S. 178, 1821962.

(1. DISCUSSION

Colledively, Green Treeand ARIC as<ert that ead cause of adion ded by Plaintiff
shoud be dismissed for failureto state aclam. Accordingly, the Court will analyze eat cause
of adionin turn.

A. Breach of Contract

In his first cause of adion, Plaintiff allegesthat Green Treebreaded the Deed of Trust
by failing to pay homeowners’ insurance premiums, failing to apply Plaintiff’s mortgage
payments to the principal balance of the Loan, and faili ngto acquire insurance equivalent to
Plaintiff’s prior homeowners’ insurance. (Am. Compl. 4 51-53, ECF No. 6).

To state aclam for breat of contrad in Nevada, the plaintiff mustallege: (1) the

existence of a valid agreement between the plaintiff and the defendant; (2) a bread bythe
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defendant; and (3) damages as aresult of the bread. Call oway v. City of Reno, 993P.2d 1259
(Nev. 200Q. AlthoughGreen Treedoes nat dispute the existence of the Deeal of Trustasa
valid agreement between the patrties, it maintainsthat it did na bread becaise “Plaintiff’s First
Amended Complaint never all eges he made a payment to Green Treewith the escrowed
insurance payment included” and “Green Treewas cleaty na invalved in any lapse and thusis
not responsible for any bread of contrad.” (Green Tree’s Reply 3:18-24, ECF No. 22).

Pursuant to Sedion 2 d the Deal of Trust, Green Treewas required to apply all
payments accepted from Plaintiff “in the following order of priority: (a) interest due under the
Note; (b) principal due underthe Note; (c) amourts due under Section 3.” (Deed of Trust at 5,
ECF No. 161). Furthemore, Sedion 3required Plaintiff to pay Green Tree “a sum (the
‘Funds’) to provide for payment of amounts due for: ... (¢) premiums for any and all insurance
required by [Green Tree]under Section 5.” (1d.). Moreover, Green Tree was required to “apply
the Funds to pay the Escrow items no later than the time specified under RESPA.” (Id. &t 6).
However, it was incumbent uponPlaintiff, pursuant to Sedion 5 d the Deed o Trust, to
maintain insurance onthe Property. (Id. at 7). If Plaintiff failed to maintain insurance onthe
Property, Green Tree had the option to obtain insurance coverage at Plaintiff’s expense, and
Green Tree was “under no obligation to purchase any particular type or amount of coverage.”
(1d.).

First, Plaintiff allegesthat Green Treebreated the Deal of Trust by failingto pay
homeowners’ insurance premiums. (Am. Compl. § 51). Plaintiff alleges that Green Tree
becane the servicer of the mortgage onNovember 1, 2011 (ld. 1 6). Additionally, Plaintiff
alleges that his original homeowners’ insurance policy covering the Property was canceled for
nonpayment in February 2011.(1d. 1 14). Moreover, Plaintiff alleges that subsequent
homeowners’ insurance was not obtained by Plaintiff until the firstweek of January 2012.(1d.

20). Because Plaintiff did not maintain homeowners’ insurance on November 1, 2011, when
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Grean Treebecane the servicer of the mortgage, therewas noinsurance premium that Green
Treecould have made payments towards pursuant to Sedion 3 d the Deead of Trust Therefore,
the all egations of the Amended Complaint demonstrate that Green Treecould nd have
breached the Deed of Trust by failing to pay homeowners’ insurance premiums.

Seoond, Plaintiff alegesthat Green Treebreaded the Dead of Trust by failingto apply
Plaintiff’s mortgage payments to the principal balance of the Loan. (Id. 52). Plaintiff alleges
that he “made his Monthly Payment in full, including the Monthly Loan Payment and the
Monthly Escrow Deposit, every month from April 2005 through March 2012.” (Am. Compl.
13). Pursuant to Sedion 2 d the Deal of Trust, Green Treewas required to apply all payments
accepted from Plaintiff “in the following order of priority: (a) interest due under the Note; (b)
principal due under the Note; (c) amounts due under Section 3.” (Deed of Trust at 5).
Accordingly, the Court finds that Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint sufficiently pleads aclaim of
breach of contract based on Green Tree’s alleged failure to apply Plaintiff’s mortgage payments
to the principal balance of the Loan.

Third, Plaintiff allegesthat Green Treebreaded the Deeal of Trust by failingto acquire
insurance equivalent to Plaintiff’s prior homeowners’ insurance. (Am. Compl. 9§ 53). However,
as discussed abowe, the Deead of Trust provided that, if Plaintiff failed to maintain insurance on
the Property, Green Tree had the option to obtain insurance coverage at Plaintiff’s expense, and
Green Tree was “under no obligation to purchase any particular type or amount of coverage.”
(Deed of Trust at 7). Moreover, the Deed of Trust explicitly provided that such FPI “shall
cover [Green Tree] bu might or might nat proted [Plaintiff] , [Plaintiff]’s equity in the
Property, or the contents of the Property, againstany risk, hazad or li abilit y and might provide
greder or lesser coverage than was previously in effed.” (1d.). Further, the Deed of Trust
provided that “[Plaintiff] adknowledges that the cost of the insurance coverage so oltained

might significantly exceed the cost of insurancethat [Plaintiff] could have oltained.” (1d.).
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Accordingly, the Deed of Trustdid na placean oldigation onGreen Treeto aqquire insurance
equivalent to Plaintiff’s prior homeowners’ insurance. Thus, Green Treecould nd have
breached the Deed of Trust by failing to acquire insurance equivalent to Plaintiff’s prior
homeowners’ insurance.

In conclusion, inasmuch as Plaintiff’s breach of contract claim relies on Plaintiff’s
allegations that Green Treebreadied the Deed of Trust by failing to apply Plaintiff’s mortgage
payments to the principal balance of the Loan, Plaintiff’s claim survives Green Tree’s Motion
to Dismiss. However, to the extent that Plaintiff’s breach of contract claim relies on Plaintiff’s
allegations that Green Tree breached the Deed of Trust by failing to pay homeowners’
insurance premiums or failing to acquire insurance equivalent to Plaintiff’s prior homeowners’
insurance, Plaintiff’s claim does not survive Green Tree’s Motion to Dismiss.

B. Breach of the Implied Covenant of Good Faith and Fair Dealing

Plaintiff’s second cause of action alleges that Green Tree breached its duty of good faith
andfair deding. (Am. Compl. 1156-66). Speaficdly, Plaintiff allegesthat Green Tree
breated the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing by (1) “failingto pay homeowners
Insurance premiums on the Property and thereater purchasing (or claiming to puchase) force-
placed insurance and charging Plaintiff for it,” (2) “refusing to apply Plaintiff's mortgage
payments to the outstanding principal balance, making frauduent representations regarding the
purchase of forcejlaced insurance, attempting to extort funds from Plaintiff that werenat due
and owing, and refusing to comply with the terms of the valid Accord and Satisfaction that it
voluntarily entered into,” (3) “faili ng to aaquire insurance when it redized that insurance
coveragge-which was Green Trees resporsibility to provide-had lapsed,” (4) “purchasing force-
placel insurance and, uponinformation and keli ef, receving a kickbad from the insurance
company,” (5) “badkdating the forceplaceal insuranceit purchased to cover time periods for

which therewas norisk of loss” and (6) “failingto dsgorge (througheither credit or refund)
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payments made with Plaintiff’s Monthly Escrow Depasit that wereeamarked for homeowners
insurance but nat used for homeowners' insurance” (1d. 1958-63).

Under Nevada law, “[e]very contract imposes upon each party a duty of good faith and
fair dedingin its performance and execution.” A.C. Shav Constr. v. Washoe County, 784P.2d
9, 9(Nev. 1989 (quaing Restatement (Seand) of Contrads 8§ 205. To establish aclaim for
breat of the implied covenant of goodfaith andfair deding, a plaintiff must show that: (1) the
plaintiff and defendant were parties to a contrad; (2) the defendant owed a duty of goodfaith
and fair dedingto the plaintiff; (3) the defendant breated his duty by performingin amanner
unfaithful to the purpase of the contrad; and (4) the plaintiff's justified expedations were
denied. Crow v. HomeLoanCtr., No. 311-cv—00259-LRH-VPC, 2011WL 22141184t * 2
(D. Nev. 201)).

Green Treemaintains that Plaintiff’s claim fails because “it was Plaintiff who in fact
breaded the Dead of Trust by his admitted refusal to pay for insurance for two (2) months.”
(Green Tree’s Mot. Dismiss7:15-16, ECF No. 16). However, the Court finds that Plaintiff’s
Amended Complaint sufficiently pleads aclaim for bread of the implied covenant of good
faith and fair deding.

C. Intentional Misrepresentation

Plaintiff’s third cause of action alleges a claim of intentional misrepresentation against
Green Tree (Am. Compl. 1167-78). To succeal onaclaim for fraud a intentional
misrepresentation, a plaintiff must show: (1) afalse representation bythe defendant that is
made with either knowledge or belief that it is false or without sufficient founcetion; (2) an
intent to induce anather'sreliance and (3) damages that result from this reliance. SeeNelsonv.
Hee, 163P.3d 420, 42§Nev. 2007). Furthermore, a claim of “fraud or mistake” must be
alleged “with particularity.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). A complaint alleging fraud a mistake must

include all egations of the time, place and speafic content of the all eged false representations
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and the identities of the partiesinvolved. SeeSwvartz v. KPMG LLP, 476F.3d 756, 7649th Cir.
2007 (percuriam). Additionally, “Rule 9(b) does not allow a complaint to merely lump

multi ple defendants together but requires plaintiffsto dfferentiate their all egations when suing
more than one defendant.” (Id.) (intemal quaations omitted). The circumstnces constituting
the all eged fraud must be spedfic enoughto give defendants natice of the particular
misconduct all eged so that they can defend againstthe charge. Lessv. Ciba—Geagy Corp. USA,
317F.3d 1097, 11069th Cir. 2003.

Here, Plaintiff alleges that, “[i]n January 2012,Green Treetold Plaintiff that it had
purchased forceplacal insurancefor the Property in November 2011,when, uponinformation
and kelief, Green Treenever purchased forceplacel insuranceat al, andif it did, it was
definitely nat purchased urtil on a after January 5, 20127 (Id. § 69). Moreover, Plaintiff
all eges that such representations weremade viaa naicerecaved by Plaintiff in January 2012.
(1d. 91 21). Accordingly, Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint alleges the time, content, identities of
the parties, and the method bywhich these all eged misrepresentations werecommunicaed.
These allegations provide enough context surrounding the communications by Green Tree’s
employees to effedively provide naticeto Grean Treeof the spedfic misrepresentations
alleged in the Amended Complaint. Therefre, the Court finds that Plaintiff’s Amended
Complaint sufficiently pleads an intentional misrepresentation cause of adion against Green
Tree

D. Breach of Fiduciary Duty

Plaintift’s fourth cause of action alleges a breach of fiduciary duty claim against Green
Tree (Am. Compl. 1179-84). Speaficdly, Plaintiff all egesthat such fiduciary duties arose
“[b]y virtue of the promisory note and deed o trust, and Defendant's pasition, status, and/or
superior knowledge in conredion with mortgages [and] homeowners' insurance.” (1d. § 80).

“[B]reach of fiduciary duty seeks damages for injuries that result from the tortious
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conduct of one who owes a duty to another by virtue of the fiduciary relationship.” Stalk v.
Mushkin, 199P.3d 838, 843Nev. 2009. To prevail onabread of fiduciary duty claim,
plaintiff mustfirstestablish the existence of afiduciary relationship. The relationship between
alendinginstitution and its barrower-dient is nat fiduciary in nature absent the credion d a
speda relationship that would creae afiduciary duty. Wangartner v. Chase Homes Fin., LLC,
702F. Supp. 2d 1276, 128@. Nev. 2010.

AlthoughPlaintiff attempts to argue that a fiduciary duty arose based on Green Tree’s
role in the insurance payment process, the Court finds that Green Tree’s role, pursuant to the
Dedl o Trust, does nat crede aspedal relationship beyondthe standard lender/borrower
relationship that would establish afiduciary duty. Thus, without the existence of afiduciary
duty, therecan be no lread o that duty, and Plaintiff's claim for bread of fiduciary duty will
be dismissed withou prejudice However, Plaintiff may amend hs Amended Complaint if he
can al ege additional facts sufficient to establish afiduciary duty owed to Plaintiff by Green
Tree

E. Accord and Satisfaction

Plaintiff’s fifth cause of action alleges a claim of accord and satisfaction. (Am. Compl.
1185-92). Spedficdly, Plaintiff allegesthat avalid dspute existed between Plaintiff and
Green Tree, Plaintiff offered “to satisfy the dispute through payment of a certain sum and made
it clear that the endorsement and cashing of the check constituted an acceptance of the terms,”
and Plaintiff and Green Treeentered into an acord and satisfaction onSeptember 17, 2012.
(1d. 1186-88). Moreover, Plaintiff alleges that, “[pJursuant to the Accord and Satisfaction,
Defendant Green Treeagreed to doseven (7) enumerded items which to date Defendant Green
Tree has refused to do.” (1d. 1 89).

Accord and satisfaction is an affirmative defense. SeeNev. R of Civ. P. 8(c); Pierce

Lathing Co. v. ISEC, Inc., 956P.2d 93, 95Nev. 1998; Casarotto v. Mortensen, 663P.2d 352,
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353(Nev. 1983. Plaintiff has nat cited and the Court canna find an instance whereNevada
courts have allowed a plaintiff to pead acord and satisfaction as a cause of adion.
Accordingly, this claim will be dismissed with prejudice However, Plaintiff may have a
different claim based onthese all egations and can amend its Amended Complaint acardingly.

F. Accounting of Funds

Plaintiff’s sixth cause of adion alleges aclaim for acourting against Green Tree (Am.
Compl. 1193-97). An action for accounting “may only be brought where there is a fiduciary
or a trust relationship between the parties.” Smonv. Bank of Am, N.A., 2010WL 2609436, *11
(D. Nev. June 23, 2010. However, nosuch relationship exists between alenderand a
borrower absent the creaion d aspedal relationship that would creae afiduciary duty. Giles
v. GMAC, 494F.3d 865, 8849th Cir. 2007). Thus, because Plaintiff and Green Treehave a
lender/borrower relationship and Plaintiff does nat plead a spedal relationship that would
crede afiduciary duty, this claim will be dismissed withou pregjudice. However, Plaintiff may
amend hs Amended Complaint if he can all ege additional facts sufficient to establish a
fiduciary duty owed to Plaintiff by Green Tree

G. Conversion

Plaintiff’s seventh cause of action alleges a claim of conversion against Green Tree.
(Am. Compl. 1998-105. “A conversion is defined as a distinct act of dominionwrongully
exerted over ancther's personal property in denial of, or inconsisent with, his title or rights
therein or in derogation, exclusion, or defiance of such title or rights.” Wantz v. Redfield, 326
P.2d 413, 414Nev. 1958. To be aconversion, an act “‘must be essentially tortious; a
conversion imports an udawful ad, or an ad which canna be justified or excused in law.””
Ferrerav. P.C.H. Inc., 774P.2d 1041, 1043Nev. 1989 (quaing Wantz, 326P.2d at 414).

Here Plaintiff all eges that he sent a ched in the amourt of $5640.01to Green Treeon

September 12, 2012, “representing past mortgage payment due to date.” (Am. Compl. § 38).
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Moreover, Plaintiff alleges that Green Tree “claimed that it had applied a portion of the
funds...to trial payments under a loan modification program without Plaintiff’s instruction.”
(Id. 140). The Court finds that these all egations fail to state a claim of conversion. These
allegations fail to demonstrate that Green Tree’s actions are essentially tortious, import
unlawful ads, or canna be justified or excused in law.

Plaintiff also maintains that his allegations pertaining to Green Tree’s failure to apply
several months’ worth of escrow deposits to pay homeowners’ insurance premiums Suppat a
claim of conwversion. (Response to Green Tree’s Mot. Dismiss 13:3—7, ECF No. 20. However,
as stated above, because Plaintiff did not maintain homeowners’ insurance on November 1,
2011when Green Treebecane the sewvicer of the mortgage, therewereno pemiumsfor Grean
Treeto make payments on pusuant to Sedion 3 d the Dead of Trust Therefore, these
alegations canna suppat aclaim of conversion. Accordingly, the Court dismisss this clam
withou prejudice However, Plaintiff may amend hs Amended Complaint if he can allege
additional facts sufficient to suppat aclaim of conversion.

H. Civil Conspiracy

Plaintiff’s eighth cause of action alleges a claim of civil conspiracy against Green Tree
and ARIC. (Am. Compl. f1106-10). Pursuant to Nevadalaw, aclaim for civil conspiracy
“consists of a combination of two or more persons who, by some concerted action, intend to
acomplish an udawful obedive for the purpose of haming another, and damage results from
the act or acts.” Consolidated Generator—Nevada, Inc. v. Cummins Engine Co., 971P.2d 1251,
1256(Nev. 199§ (quaing Hilton Hotels v. Butch Lewis Productions, 862P.2d 1207, 1210
(Nev. 1993). An “act in furtherance of the conspiracy [must] constitute an actionable tort.”
Eikdberger v. Tolotti, 611P.2d 1086, 108&. n.1(Nev. 1980.

Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint conclusorily alleges that “Defendants, by a concerted

adion, intended to acamplish ore or more unawful oljedives for the purpases of harming
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Plaintiff.” (Am. Compl. § 107). However, Plaintiff clarfiesthat the adionable tortsinclude
conversion and fraud. (SeeResponse to Green Tree’s Mot. Dismiss 13:19-15:7).

First, as explained above, Plaintiff’s allegations fail to support a claim of conversion.
Thus, Plaintiff canna maintain a claim of civil conspiracy based onthe adionable tort of
conversion.

Seoond, Plaintiff fails to allege aclaim of civil conspiracy based onfraud. Under
Nevadalaw, an adionable civil conspiracy-to-defraud claim existswhen thereis (1) a
conspiracy agreement; (2) an overt ad of fraud in furtherance of the conspiracy; and (3)
resulting damages to the plaintiff. Jordanv. Sate exrel. Dept. of Motor Vehicles andPublic
Sdety, 110P.3d 30, 51(Nev. 2005. “Thus, an underlying cause of action for fraud is a
necessary predicate to a cause of action for conspiracy to defraud.” Id.

A claim for conspiracy to commit fraud must be pled with the same particularty as the
frauditself. SeeWanetick v. Mel's of Modesto, Inc., 811F. Supp. 1402, 1406 n.@N.D. Cal.
1992. Thus, uncerRule 9(b), a party must state with particulanty the circumsiances
constituting the conspiragy. SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). Allegations of conspiracy must be
accompanied by “the who, what, when, where, and how of the misconduct charged.” SeeVess
v. Ciba-Geigy Corp. USA, 317F.3d 1097, 11069th Cir. 2003. Accordingly, to state aclaim
for conspiracy “a plaintiff must allege with sufficient factual particularity that defendants
reatied some explicit or tadt uncerstanding a agreament. It is nat enoughto show that
defendants might have had acommon gal unessthereis afactualy speafic all egation that
they direded themselves towards this wrongful goal by virtue of a mutual uncerstanding a
agreement.” S.Union Co. v. Sv. Gas Corp., 165F. Supp. 2d 1010, 10221 (D. Ariz. 200)
(intemal citations and qudation marks omitted); Goodwin v. Exeaitive Tr. Servs., LLC, 680F.
Supp. 2d 1244, 125(D. Nev. 2010.

Plaintiff has failed to allege with sufficient factual particularnty that Defendants readed
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aconspiracy agreement to defraud. Accordingly, the Court dismisges this claim withou
prejudice However, Plaintiff may amend his Amended Complaint if he can al ege additional
facts sufficient to suppat aclaim of civil conspiracy.

l. RICO

Plaintiff’s ninth cause of action alleges a claim of civil RICO against Green Treeand
ARIC predicaed onmail fraud, wire fraud, and extortion. (Am. Compl. 11111-38). “To state
acivil RICO claim, plaintiffs mustall ege (1) condct (2) of an enterprise (3) througha pattem
(4) of rakketeeing adivity (5) causinginjury to plaintiffs’ ‘business or property.”” Ovev.
Gwinn, 264F.3d 817, 82%9th Cir. 200 (citing 18U.S.C. § 1964c)).

1. Enterprise

An enterprise “includes any individual, partnership, corporation, association, a other
legal entity, and any unon a group d individuals associated in fact although no alegal
entity.” 18 U.S.C. § 1961(4). An asciated-in-fact enterprise is “a group of persons associated
together for acommon pupose of engaging in a course of conduct.” Odomv. Microsoft Corp.,
486F.3d 541, 55Z9th Cir. 2007 (en banc). A plaintiff pleads an enterprise through
allegations of “an ongoing organization, formal or informal,” and by allegations that “the
varous asociates function as a continuing unit.” Id. at 549. An organization is ongoing if it “is
a vehicle for the commission of two or more predicate crimes.” Id. at 552 (quadation amitted).
Allegations that the organizaion existed over atwo-yeartime span sufficeto allegea
continuing unt. Id. at 553. Wherethe plaintiff alleges an asciated-in-fact enterprise, the
plaintiff need not allege “any particular organizational structure, separate or otherwise.” Id. at
551.

Here, Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint consists of merdy conclusory all egations related
to an enterprise. (See Am. Compl. § 112 (“The combined efforts of Defendants or any of them

constituted a criminal enterprise.”)). In his Response to ARIC’s Motion to Dismiss, Plaintiff
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contends that his Amended Complaint “is replete with supporting facts,” but fails to cite to any
all egations contained in the Amended Complaint. (Resporseto ARIC’s Mot. Dismiss 1316
17,ECF No. 15. Rather, Plaintiff cites a case from the Northem District of Californiawhere
the court foundthat an enterprise had been sufficiently pled. (1d. 13:24-14:5 (citing Cannonv.
Wadls Fargo Bank NA, C-12-1376EMC, 2014WL 324556 at *3 (N.D. Cal Jan. 29, 201)).
However, Plaintiff fails to show how the all egationsin his Amended Complaint arecomparable
to thosein Cannon Accordingly, because Plaintiff hasfailed to sufficiently all ege an
enterprise among Green Tree and ARIC, the Court can dismiss Plaintiff’s RICO claim onthis
basisalone. However, the Court will continue to analyze the sufficiency of Plaintiff’s RICO
clam.

2. Pattern of Racketeering Activity

A “pattern of racketeering activity” requires “at least two acts of racketeering activity,
one of which occurred after the effedive date of this chapter and the last of which occurred
within ten years...after the commisson d a prior ad of radketeeing adivity.” 18 U.S.C. §
1961(5). While two predicate racketeering acts, as described in section 1961(1), “are
necessary” to plead a civil RICO claim, “they may not be sufficient.” H.J. Inc. v. Nw. Bdl Tel.
Co., 492U.S. 229, 23738(1989 (quaing Sedima, SP.R.L. v. ImrexCo.,Inc., 473U.S. 479,
496 n.14(1989). There is more to showing a “pattern” of racketeering activity than “simply
[painting to] the number of predicate adsinvolved.” Id. at 238.

A “pattern” of racketeering activity is established by satisfying its two requisite
comporents, relatednessand continuity, wherecontinuity need na be all eged with certainty to
overcome amotionto dsmiss H. J., Inc., 492U.S. at 239, 250.1n particular, the continuity
component of “pattern” has two types, closed-ended and open-ended, and if eithertypeis
identified by the allegations, the “continuity” element is established. Id. at 241. Generdly, the

closed-ended continuity refersto aspedficaly defined penod d repeded conduct, and the
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open-ended continuity refers to the threa of continued radketeeing adivity. Id. at 241-242.

Here, Plaintiff’s specific allegations related to a pattern of racketeering activity merely
redte conclusory allegations. (SeeAm. Compl. 9 112 (“Defendants engaged in a pattem o
racketeeing adivity by engaging in mail fraud, wire fraud, monetary transadions with property
derived from spedfied udawful adivity, transportation d stolen good, and/or other adivities
in violation d the [RICO] Act.”); 9 127 (“The pattern of racketeering was continuous.”); 4128
(“The pattern of racketeering was related to the enterprise.”)). Moreover, Plaintiff’s general
alegationsfail to sufficiently establish the requisite relatednessand continuity to establish a
pattem of rackketeerng adivity.

a. Mail and Wire Fraud

Plaintiff bases his RICO claim onthe predicae ads of mail andwire fraud. (Am.
Compl. 11114-23). To state the elements of wire or mail fraud, the plaintiff mustallege (1)
the defendants formed a scheme or attificeto defraud; (2) the defendants used the mails or
wiresin furtherance of the scheme; and (3) the defendants aded with the spedfic intent to
deceve or defraud. Mill er v. Yokohama Tire Corp., 358F.3d 616, 62@9th Cir. 2004; United
Satesv. Manion, 339F.3d 1153, 115¢9th Cir. 2003. The mails or wiresareused in
furtherance of a scheme even if use of the mails or wires is not an “essential element” of the
fraudulent scheme, so long as it is “a step in the plot.” United Satesv. Shpsey, 363F.3d 962,
971 (9th Cir. 2009 (quaation amitted).

Plaintiff contends Green Tree and ARIC had a scheme to defraud, which involved “the
purchase of urwanted and unreeded insuranceat an inflated rate, which is badkdated, and
which includes kickbacks from [ARIC] to [Green Tree].” (Response to ARIC’s Mot. Dismiss
17:11-15).

First, the Court finds that Plaintiff’s allegations that Green Tree and ARIC committed

fraud by puchasing the FPI fail because the Deeal dof Trustexplicitly granted Green Treethe
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right to puchase FPI in the event that Plaintiff failed to maintain insurance (SeeDeel of Trust
at 7). Plaintiff admits that the property was nat insured when Green Treebecane servicer of
the mortgage. (Am. Compl. 16-7, 14-16). Moreover, Plaintiff admitsthat he did na obtain
new insurance until “the first week of January 2012”—almosttwo months after Green Tree
mail ed a naticeto Plaintiff informing him that the Property was uninsured and that fail ure to
maintain insurance could result in Green Tree’s purchase of FPI. (Am. Compl. 99| 7, 20).
Furthermore, the Deed of Trust notified Plaintiff that Green Tree ““is under no obligation to
purchase any particular type or amourt of coverage,” and “that the cost of the insurance
coveragge so oltained might significantly exceed the cost of insurancethat [Plaintiff] could have
obtained.” (Deed of Trust at 7). Thus, Green Tre€'s purchase of FPI at arate higher than what
Plaintiff could have oltained, although urvanted by Plaintiff, was pursuant to its rights under
the Deed of Trust and was not “unneeded” becaise Plaintiff had fail ed to maintain insurance

Second, the Court finds that Plaintiff’s allegations that Green Tree and ARIC committed
fraud by adkdating the FPI pdicy fail because the language of the Deed of Trust does nat
forbid Green Treeto oltain such pdicies, and the purchase of baddated insurance proteded
Green Tree’s interest in the Property. As nated abowve, it was Plaintiff’s duty to maintain
insurance onthe Property. (Deed of Trustat 7). If Plaintiff failed to doso, Green Treehad the
right to oltain insuranceto proted its interestin the Property. (1d.). The Court finds that Green
Tree’s purchase of badkdated FPl was nat frauduent becaise it protected Green Tree’s interest
in the property after Plaintiff failed to maintain coverage.

Other courts have readed similar conclusions regarding badkdating claims. Seg e.g.,
Cohenv. Am Sc Ins. Co., 735F.3d 601, 6137th Cir. 2013 (finding that the purchase of
badkdated insurance was necessary to maintain continuows hazard insurance onthe propetty);
Rapp v. Green Tree Serv' g, LLC, No. 12CV-2493(PJS/EN), 2013WL 39924424t * 6 (D.
Minn. Aug. 5, 2013 (finding that the purchase of badkdated insurance protected Green Tree’s

Page 18 d 28




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

interestin the property at issue); Lane v. Wdls Fargo Bank, N.A., No. C12-04026WHA, 2013
WL 269133, at *10 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 24, 2013) (“Plaintiffs have na, however, sufficiently

all eged that Wells Fargo engaged in improper badkdating d insurance procured for plaintiffs
property. The complaint contains only asingle paragraph o conclusory all egations that Wells
Fargo retroadively purchased insurance pdicies for periods of time wherecoverage had |apsed
but noclaims had been made.”).

Third, Plaintiff allegesthat Green Treeand ARIC committed fraud througha kickbadk
scheme, whereby ARIC paid commissonsto Green Treebased onits purchase of FPI. (Am.
Compl. 1161, 76, 194 Plaintiff refers to threedifferent letters he receved from Green Tree
that informed Plaintiff of the lack of homeowners’ insurance onthe Property and asked
Plaintiff to provide proof of insurance or Green Treewould puchase FP. (Am. Compl. 17,
20-21). However, each letter notified Plaintiff that if Green Tree were to purchase FPI, it “will
do so throughan affili ated insurance agency, which is an agent for the insurer and may ean a
commission on the insurance policy.” (Exs. B-1-B-3 to ARIC’s Mot. Dismiss, ECF Nos. 10-3-
10-5). Thus, Plaintiff wasfully natified onmulti ple occasions that Green Treecould receve a
commisson from ARIC if Plaintiff failed to provide proof of insurance. Accordingly, the
Court finds that such all egations do nd suppat aclaim of fraud.

Other courts have rejeded similar kickbadk theories. Feaz v. Wdls Fargo Bank, N.A.,
745F.3d 1098, 111011 (11th Cir. 2019; Cohen, 735F.3dat 611. For example, in Cohen, the
plaintiff failed to maintain hazad insurance as required uncer herloan agreement, and after
multi ple wamings from her lender, Wadowvia purchased FF that was badkdated to the date the
plaintiff’s insurance lapsed. 735 F.3d at 605. Wachovia warned the plaintiff of the potentially
higher cost of the FPI and that it could colled a commisson from the insurer. Id. The plaintiff
alleged that such “kickbacks” were a deceptive pradice Id. at 608. The Seventh Circuit held

that the plaintiff “seems to think that mere applying this label converts the bank’s otherwise
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cleardisclosuresinto a prohibited deceptive ad.” Id. at 609. Further, the court held that there
wereno all egations of thredsto takeill egal, immoral, or otherwise wrongful adion against the
plaintiff, and “Wachovia simply reminded her of its contractual and legal remediesif she
remained in breat of her olligations to maintain insurance on the mortgaged property.” Id. at
610.

Regarding what the plaintiff labeled a kickback, the Seventh Circuit held that “simply
cdlingthe [Wachovia] commissbn a kickback doesn’t make it one.” Id. at 611. Rather.

The defining charaderistic of a kickbad is divided loyalties. But
Wadovia was nat ading on tehalf of [the plaintiff] or representing
her interests The loan agreament makes it clearthat the insurance
requirement is for the lender's protedion.... Wadovia was nat
subjed to dvided loyalties; rather, it was subjed to an undvided
loyalty to itself, and it made this clear from the start. The
commisson for the lenderplaced insurance was nat a kickbad in
any meaningful sense.

Id. The Court agrees with the reasoning d the Seventh Circuit.> The Dead of Trust makesit
clear that the insurance requirement is for Green Tree’s protection: “Therefore, such coverage
shall cover Lender, bu might or might nat proted Borrower.” (Deed of Trust at 7).

Accordingly, the Court finds that Plaintiff’s allegations in his Amended Complaint fail
to plead rakketeeiing adivity based onthe predicae ad of fraud, either mail or wire.

b. Extortion

Plaintiff also bases his RICO claim onthe predicae ad of extortion unaerthe Hobbs
Act, 18U.S.C. § 1951 (Am. Compl. 1 124-25). “Extortion” under the Hobbs Act, “means the
obtaining d property from ancther, with his consent, induced bywrongul use of adual or

threaened force, violence, or fear, or under color of official right.” 18 U.S.C. § 1951(b)(2).

3 The Eleventh Circuit has reached the same conclusion regarding such “kickback” theories. SeeFeaz v.
Widls Fargo Bank, N.A., 745F.3d 1098, 111011 (11th Cir. 2014) (“We agree with the Seventh Circuit
that ‘simply calling a commission a kickback doesn’t make it one.””).
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Plaintiff alleges that Green Tree’s agents “threaened that Plaintiff's credit would be destroyed,
that his home would be foredosed on,and that it was Plaintiff's fault that his loan wasin
default.” (Am. Compl. § 28). Moreover, Plaintiff alleges that, “[d]uring the month of August
2012,Plaintiff was sent a ‘Notice of Default and Election to Sell,”” which “did na include any
advisement as to Plaintiff's rights to mediation and dd na comply with the Nevada Foredosure
Mediation Program.” (Id.  29). Further, Plaintiff conclusorily alleges that “Defendants
obtained property from the Plaintiff, with Plaintiff's consent, which was aaquired through
inducement by wrongful use of adual or threaened force, violence, or fear, or uncer color of
official right.” However, the Court finds that these allegations do not sufficiently plead
extortion uncer the Hoblbs Act.

Accordingly, the Court finds that Plaintiff fails to sufficiently plead acivil RICO claim.
However, the Court will give Plaintiff an oppatunity to amendif he can pead fads sufficient
to overocome the defeds described heran. Additionally, Plaintiff may nat continue to rely on
baddating a kickbadk theories to suppat the predicae ads of mail or wire fraud.

J. Racketeering

Plaintiff’s tenth cause of action alleges a racketeering claim under state law against
Green Treeand ARIC. (Am. Compl. 11139-70). Under Nevadalaw, RICO claims must be
pleaded with spedficity. Hale v. Burkhardt, 764P.2d 866, 864Nev. 1988. Moreover, the
Nevada Supreme Court requires a plaintiff bringingacivil RICO claim uncer state law to
articulate the factual all egations constituting the RICO claim diredly uncer the partion d the
Amended Complaint dedicated to the RICO claim:

A civil RICO pleading must, in that portion d the pleading which
describes the criminal ads that the defendant is charged to have
committed, contain a sufficiently “plain, concise and definite”
statement of the essential facts such that it would provide a person o
ordinary uncerstanding with ndice of the charges.
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Id. at 879-70. Because civil RICO claims are deemed to be “quasi-criminal” in nature, mere
incorporation byreferenceis nat enough.ld. Plaintiff hasfailed to fulfill this pleading
requirement; therefore, the Court will dismissthe racdketeeing claim withou prejudice
However, Plaintiff may amend hs Amended Complaint to overaome the defeds described
heran.

K.  Racketeering Conspiracy

Plaintiff’s eleventh cause of action alleges a claim of racketeering conspiracy against
Green Treeand ARIC. (Am. Compl. 111171-76). “Plaintiff]] canna claim that a conspiracy to
violate RICO existed if [he] dges] na adequately plead a substantive violation of RICO.”
Sarford v. MemberWorks, Inc., 625F.3d 550, 5599th Cir. 2010 (quaing Howard v. Am
OnlineInc., 208F.3d 741, 75X9th Cir. 200Q). Accordingly, because the Court foundthat
Plaintiff failed to pead a substantive violation, Plaintiff’s racketeering conspiracy must be
dismissd withou prejudice

L. Violation of the Truth in Lending Act

Plaintiff concedesthat his twelfth cause of adion, allegingaviolation o the Truth in
Lending Act against Green Treg is time-barred. (Resporse to Green Tree’s Mot. to Dismiss
19:13-15,ECF No. 20. Accordingly, this claim will be dismissed with prejudice

M.  Violation of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (RESPA)

Plaintiff’s thirteenth cause of action alleges a claim of violation of the Red Estate
Settlement Procedures Act (“RESPA”) against Green Treeand ARIC. (Am. Compl. 11186-
96). Plaintiff fails to cite any spedfic provision d RESPA that Green Treeor ARIC violated.
Such afailureitself is sufficient grounds for the dismissl of aRESPA claim. SeeSovall v.
Nat’| Default Servicing Corp., 2011WL 1103582, *3D. Nev. Mar. 23, 201). The Court,
Green Treg and ARIC shoud na have to speaulate as to under which provisions Plaintiff is

suing. Accordingly, the Court dismisses this claim withou prejudice However, Plaintiff may
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amend hs Amended Complaint to overcome the defeds described heran.

N.  Violation of the Nevada Deceptive Trade Practices Act

Plaintiff’s fourteenth cause of adion allegesaviolation d the Nevada Deceptive Trade
Practices Act (“DTPA”) against Green Tree. (Am. Compl. § 197-207). Spedficdly, Plaintiff
allegesthat Green Treeviolated the DTPA by (1) “representing that goods or servicesfor sale
(homeowners insurance)wereof a patticular standard, quality or grade, while knowing that
they wereof anather standard, quality, grade, style or model,” (2) “making false or misleading
statements of fact concemingthe price of goods or servicesfor sale,” (3) “knowingly making
false representations in atransadion,” (4) “employing ‘bait and switch’ advertising,” (5)
“knowingly stating that services or wereneeded when nosuch services wereadually needed,”
(6) “refusingto provide arefundwhen refunds weredue and allowed,” (7) “knowingly
misrepresenting the legal rights, oligations or remedies of the Plaintiff, a party to atransadion
with Green Treg” (8) “failing to dsclose amaterial fact in conredionwith the sale or lease of
goods or services,” and (9) “violating a state or federd statute or regulation relating to the sale
or lease of goods or services.” (1d. 11198-206).

Courtsinthis jurisdiction have routinely held that the Nevada Deceptive Trade Pradices
Act does nat apply to mortgage transadions and red estate, bu only to transadions of goods
and services. Seg e.g., Rodriquez v. Bank of Ameica Corp., No. 211-cv-01877#ECR-CWH,
2012WL 32771084t *2 (D. Nev. Aug. 8, 2012, Baudan v. Lender Processng Srvs., No.
2:12-cv-00114-JCM-CWH, 2012WL 23678204t *3 (D. Nev. Jun. 21, 201p, Reysv. BAC
HomelLoars Servicing, LP, No. 211-cv-01367KJD, 2012WL 23678034t *2 (D. Nev. Jun.
21, 2012; Riverav. Nat'l Default Servicing Corp., No. 212-cv-00629-JCM-RJJ 2012WL
27890154t *2-3 (D. Nev. Jul. 6, 2012; Archer v. Bank of Am Corp., No. 211-cv-01264-
JCM-RJJ 2011WL 67525624t *2 (D. Nev. Dec 23, 201); Reyav. Wdls Fargo Bank, N.A,,
No. 210-cv-01730-KIJD-RJJ 2011WL 2690087at *9 (D. Nev. Jul. 11, 201); Alexander v.
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AuroraLoan Srv., No. 209-cv—-01796-KJD-LRL, 2010WL 27737964t *2 (D. Nev. Jul. 8,
2010.

The Court finds that Green Tree’s purchase of FPI pertains to real property and is not
subjed to the Nevada Deceptive Trade Pradices Act. The transadion accurred pusuant to the
Dedl of Trust Moreover, Green Treedid na sell agood @ sewviceto Plaintiff. Rather, Green
Treewas the consumer becaise it purchased FP from ARIC to proted its interestin the
Property. Accordingly, the Court dismisses this claim with prgjudice

O. Violation of the Nevada Unfair Lending Practices Act

Plaintiff concedesthat his fifteenth cause of adion, alleginga violation d the Nevada
Unfair Lending Practices Act against Green Tree, “cannot lie against a subsequent servicer of
the loan.” (Response to Green Tree’s Mot. to Dismiss 22:20-25). Accordingly, this claim will
be dismissed with prejudice

P. Wrongful Foreclosure

Plaintiff’s sixteenth cause of action alleges wrongful foreclosure against Green Tree.
(Am. Compl. 111211-14). In Nevada, the common lawtort of wrongful foredosure requires
Plaintiff to establish that at the time the power of sale was exerdsed no bread of condtion a
failure of performance existed onthe mortgagor's or trustor's part which would have authorized
the foredosure or exerdse of the power of sale. Collinsv. Union Fed. Sa. & LoanAssh., 662
P.2d 610, 623Nev. 1983. Furthemore, aclaim for wrongful foredosure prior to saleis nat
adionable. Huggnsv. Quality Loan %rvicing, LP, 2011WL 3104904t *5 (D. Nev. January
27, 201). Therefore, Plaintiff has noclaim for the common law tort of wrongful foredosure
becaise he does nat all ege that aforedosure sale has taken pace Accordingly, this claim will
be dismissd withou prgudice However, Plaintiff may amend hs Amended Complaint to
all ege additional facts sufficient to suppat aclaim of wrongful foredosure.

111
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Q. Violation of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act

Plaintiff’s seventeanth cause of adion aleges aviolation d the Fair Debt Colledion
Pradices Act, 15U.S.C. § 1692et seq. (“FDCPA”) against Green Tree (Am. Compl. 71215-
18). Plaintiff’s claim underthe FDCPA must be dismissed because Green Treedoes na med
the definition d a debt colledor. The FDCPA defines a debt collector as “any person ... who
regularly colleds or attemptsto colled ... debts owed or due or asserted to be owed o due
another.” 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6). The term “debt collector”” does not include:

[A] ny person colleding a attempting to colled any debt owed or
due or asserted to be owed or due another to the extent such adivity
... (i) concems a debt which was originated by such personor] (iii)
concems a debt which was nat in default at the time it was oltained
by such person.

15U.S.C. 8 1692A(6)(G). The legislative history of sedion 1692(6) indicates conclusively
that a debt colledor does nat include the consumer’s creditors, a mortgage servicing company,
or an assgneeof a debt, aslongas the debt was nat in default at the time it was assgned. See
S.Rep. No. 95-382, 95h Cong., Bt Sess 3,reprinted in 1977U.S.Code Cong.& Ad.News
1695, 1698Seealso Pary v. Sewart Title Co., 756F.2d 1197, 12085th Cir. 1989. In this
case, the FDCPA is inapplicable because Green Treeis nat a debt colledor. Therebre, the
Court dismisss Plaintiff’s claim arising uncer the FDCPA with prejudice

R.  Violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act

Plaintiff’s eighteenth cause of action alleges a violation of the Fair Credit Reporting Act,
15U.S.C. 8 1681et seq. (“FCRA”) against Green Tree. (Am. Compl. 11219-22). Congess
enacted the FCRA in 1970 “to ensure fair and acarate credit reporting, promote efficiency in
the banking system, and protect consumer privacy.” S&ew Ins. Co. d Am v. Burr, 551U.S.
47, 53(2007).

Plaintiff allegesthat Green Treeviolated the FCRA “by faili ngto foll ow reasonable
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palicies and procedures regarding the acaracy and integrity of the delinquency dates provided
on Plaintiff's account” and “by continuall y ignaring the resolution requestsfrom Plaintiff.”
(Am. Compl. 1220-21).

First, while Plaintiff does nat al ege the spedfic provisions of the FCRA that Green Tree
violated, his all egation that Green Treefail ed to foll ow reasonable pdicies and procedures
regarding the acaracy and integrity of the delinquency dates provided onPlaintiff's account
likely alleges aviolation d Sedion 1685-2(a), which imposes cettain duties onthose who
furnish information to consumer reporting agencies (“CRAs”) in order to encourage accurate
reporting. However, “[d]uties imposed onfurnishers uncer[Sedion 168%-2(a)] are
enforcedle ony by federd or state agencies.” Gormanv. Wolpoff & Abramson, LLP, 584F.3d
1147, 11549th Cir. 2009.

Second, Plaintiff’s allegation that Green Tree continually ignored the resolution requests
from Plaintiff likely alegesaviolation d Sedion 168%-2(b), which imposes cettain duties on
those who furnish information to CRAs upon notice of a dispute. However, “[t]hese duties
anse only afterthe furnisher recaves natiice of dispute from a CRA; natice of a dispute
recaved dredly from the consumer does nat trigger furnishers' duties uncer subsedion (b).”
Gorman, 584F.3dat 1154. Here Plaintiff does nat all ege that Green Treereceved ndice of
dispute from a CRA. Accordingly, the Court dismisses Plaintiff’s claim arising under the
FCRA withou pregjudice However, Plaintiff may amend hs Amended Complaint to alege
additional facts sufficient to suppat an FCRA claim.

S. Violation of NRS 107

Plaintiff’s nineteenth cause of adion allegesaviolation d NRS 107against Green Tree
(Am. Compl. 19223-28). Green Tree contends that Plaintiff’s claim “does not state a claim
upon which relief may be granted and must be dismissed.” (Green Tree’s Mot. Dismiss 19:3—

4). Plaintiff cites nolaw and makes no arguments regarding s NRS 107claims. He therefore
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consents to the motion being ganted. LR 7-2(d). Accordingly, the Court dismisses Plaintiff’s
NRS 107claim withou prejudice

T. Violation of NRS 645F

Plaintiff’s twentieth cause of action alegesaviolation d NRS 645~ against Green Tree
(Am. Compl. 119229-33). Spedficdly, Plaintiff aleges, withou citing a spedfic provision d
the statute, that Green Treeviolated the statute by charging for fees outside the scope of the
Dedl of Trust, byreceving consideraion from athird party in connedionwith a covered
sewvice provided to Plaintiff that was nat fully disclosed to the homeowner, and by
misrepresenting aspeds of covered sewvice (Id. §91230-32). The provisions of NRS 645-.300
et seq., apply to foredosure consultants, loan modification consultants, and persons performing
covered services for compensation. Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint does not allege that Green
Treeis aforedosure consultant, loan modification consultant, or person performing covered
services for compensation. Accordingly, the Court dismisses Plaintiff’s claim for violation of
NRS 645 withou prejudice However, Plaintiff may amend hs Amended Complaint to allege
additional factsto suppat an NRS 645 claim.

U. Statutory Damages

Plaintiff’s twenty-first cause of adion all eges statutory damages against Green Treeand
ARIC. (Am. Compl. 11234-46). However, a demand for damages is nat independently
actionable. Accordingly, the Court dismisses Plaintiff’s independent claim for statutory
damages with prejudice
V. CONCLUSION

ITISHEREBY ORDERED that Defendant ARIC’s Motion to Dismiss (ECF No. 10)
IS GRANTED. Thefollowing claimsareDISMISSED without preudice: (1) civil
conspiracy; (2) RICO; (3) raketeeing; (4) radketeering conspiracy; and (5) violation d the
Red Estate Settlement Procedures Act, 12U.S.C. § 2601et seq. Moreover, Plaintiff’s claim of
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statutory damagesis DISMISSED with prejudice.

IT ISFURTHER ORDERED that Defendant Green Tree’s Motion to Dismiss(ECF
No. 16 is GRANTED in part and DENIED in part. ThefollowingclaimsareDISMISSED
with prejudice: (1) acord and satisfaction; (2) violation d the Truth in Lending Act, 15
U.S.C. 8§ 1601et seq.; (3) violation d the Nevada Deceptive Trade Pradice Act, NRS598.0903
et seq.; (4) violation d the Nevada Unfair Lending Pradices Act, NRS598).010¢et seq.; (5)
violation d the Fair Debt Colledion Pradices Act, 15U.S.C. 8§ 1692t seq.; and (6) statutory
damages. Moreover, the foll owing claims aredismissed withou prejudice (1) bread of
fiduciary duty; (2) acourting d funds; (3) conversion; (4) civil conspiracy; (5) RICO; (6)
rackketeeing; (7) rakketeeing conspiracy; (8) violation d the Red Estate Settlement
Procedures Act, 12U.S.C. 8 2601et seq.; (9) wrongful foredosure; (10) violation d the Fair
Credit Reporting Act, 15U.S.C. § 1681et seq.; (11) violation d NRS 107, and (12) violation
of NRS645. Furthermore, Defendant Green Tree’s Motion to Dismiss is denied with respect
to the following claims: (1) bread of contrad; (2) breat of the implied covenant of goodfaith
andfair deding; and (3) intentional misrepresentation.

IT ISFURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiff shall file his sscondamended complaint by
Wednesday, July 22, 2015. Failureto file a sescondamended complaint by this date shall

result in the Court DISMISSING the foll owing claims with prejudice: (1) bread of fiduciary
duty; (2) acourting d funds; (3) conversion; (4) civil conspiracy; (5) RICO; (6) radketeeing;
(7) racketeeing conspiracy; (8) violation d the Red Estate Settlement Procedures Act, 12
U.S.C. 8§ 2601et seq.; (9) wrondful foredosure; (10) violation d the Fair Credit Reporting Act,
15U.S.C. § 1681et seq.; (11) violation of NRS 107; and (12) violation of NRS 645-.

DATED this 8th day of July, 2015.

Glorid M. Navarro, Chuef Judge
Unifed ptates District Judge
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